S263972

No.			

In the

Supreme Court

of the

State of California

City of Santa Monica,

Defendant and Appellant,

v.

Pico Neighborhood Association, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Published Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Eight Case No. B295935

Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles Case No. BC616804 Honorable Yvette M. Palazuelos

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Expanding on its federal counterpart, the California Voting Rights Act (CVRA) makes it unlawful for local political subdivisions to "impose[] or appl[y]" at-large elections if those elections impair "the ability of a protected class to elect candidates of its choice or its ability to influence the outcome of an election, as a result of the dilution or the abridgment of the rights of voters who are members of a protected class." Elec. Code §14027. The CVRA further states that "A violation of Section 14027 is established if it is shown that racially polarized voting occurs in elections for members of the governing body of the political subdivision ..." (Elec. Code §14028, subd. (a)), and "The fact that members of a protected class are not geographically compact or concentrated may not preclude a finding of ... a violation of Section 14027 and this section but may be a factor in determining an appropriate remedy. ..." (Elec. Code §14028, subd. (c)).

In light of these provisions, did the Court of Appeal misconstrue and improperly limit the CVRA by holding that in order to establish a violation, plaintiffs must prove that in a district election system the protected class would have the ability to elect candidates of its choice by demonstrating that it is possible to create a geographically compact district in which a majority of the voters are members of the protected class?

Issue 2: Well-established precedent directs that findings of fact, including a finding of intentional discrimination by a public entity, must be reviewed under the deferential substantial evidence standard. The Court of Appeal applied *de novo* review to the trial court's finding that Santa Monica's at-large system was adopted and maintained with discriminatory intent. The Court of Appeal held that *de novo* review was justified because much of the evidence relied upon by the trial court was in video or documentary form, or in the form of expert testimony by a historian.

Does the Court of Appeal's application of *de novo* review, based on the presence of documentary and video evidence, create an unduly broad exception to substantial evidence review that invades the province of the trial court as the factfinder to weigh all the evidence in making the ultimate factual finding of discriminatory intent?

II. INTRODUCTION

The California Voting Rights Act (CVRA), Elections Code §§ 14025-14032,¹ was enacted in 2002 to level the electoral playing field for minority voters and the candidates they support. The Act provides a cause of action where racially polarized voting in the context of at-large elections cancels out the voting power of racial and ethnic minorities with distinct electoral preferences.

_

¹ All further references to statutory provisions in this Petition are, unless otherwise indicated, to the Elections Code.

To date the CVRA has been notably successful in accomplishing that goal. Since the 2002 enactment of the CVRA at least 126 cities, 212 school districts and many more special districts, have changed from at-large to by-district election systems in order to comply with the CVRA.² This change, prompted by the CVRA, has resulted in significant gains in the number of minority candidates elected to city councils, school boards, and other offices, reflecting its transformative effect on the electoral power of minority voters.³ The CVRA has also positively influenced the emergence of similar legislation in other states.⁴

Through enactment of the CVRA, the Legislature sought to expand voting rights protections beyond those afforded by the federal Voting Rights Act ("FVRA"). Two of the Legislature's most significant choices in that regard are at issue here. First, the Legislature eliminated the federal requirement that, to prove liability, plaintiffs must demonstrate protected class voters could comprise a majority in a potential electoral district. (See

_

² See https://www.ndcresearch.com/updated-counts-cvra-driven-changes

³ Collingwood, L. & Long, S., *Can States Promote Minority Representation? Assessing the Effects of the California Voting Rights Act.* (Dec. 31, 2019) Urban Affairs Review, available at https://doi.org/10.1177/1078087419896854

⁴ In 2018, Washington enacted the Washington Voting Rights Act (WRC §§ 29.A.92.005 *et seq.*) In 2019 Oregon enacted the Oregon Voting Rights Act (ORS §§ 255.400 *et seq.*) In 2020, 17 New York State Senators introduced a New York Voting Rights Act (Bill No. S07528). All are modeled on the CVRA.

§§14028, subds. (a), (c)). Second, and relatedly, the Legislature also explicitly protected minority voters' rights to exercise influence in elections, even if they are insufficiently numerous to control the outcomes of elections under a given remedial voting scheme. (See §14027). This distinct California voting rights law thus embraces a broader understanding of political power than its federal cousin, and it embodies the Legislature's determination to provide a meaningful voice in local elections to minority groups with distinct political preferences, even when it is not possible to create a majority-minority district.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion (hereinafter "Opinion" or "Op.") reads the Legislature's statutory choices out of existence by holding that Plaintiffs⁵ cannot succeed on their CVRA claim because it is not possible to draw an electoral district where Latino voters comprise a majority. (Op. p. 31.) This holding conflicts with the plain language and unanimous interpretation of the statute reached by three other appellate courts, all of which agreed that the CVRA "does not require that the plaintiff prove a 'compact majority-minority' district is possible for liability purposes."

(Jauregui v. City of Palmdale (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 781, 789 (Jauregui); see also Sanchez v. City of Modesto (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 660, 669

⁵ Petitioners here were Plaintiffs in the Superior Court and Respondents in the Court of Appeal. Respondent here was Defendant in the Superior Court and Appellant in the Court of Appeal.

(Sanchez); Rey v. Madera Unified Sch. Dist. (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1223, 1229.)

The Opinion also disregards the trial court's findings, supported by substantial evidence, that any one of several remedial electoral systems would permit Latino voters to play a meaningful role in Santa Monica city council elections, and even to elect candidates of their choice.

Review of the Court of Appeal's Opinion is warranted because of the importance of the statutory interpretation questions involved. The Opinion radically narrows the scope of the CVRA and will undermine its ability to accomplish its fundamental purpose of enabling minority voters to seek relief when racially polarized voting in an at-large system prevents them from influencing the outcome of elections. Moreover, the conflict between this ruling, on the one hand, and the language and purpose of the statute identified by three other appellate courts, on the other hand, will leave trial courts to wonder which should control in the cases before them, and hundreds or thousands of local governments - those either still deploying or contemplating a return to at-large systems - to guess at whether the CVRA applies to them.

In reversing judgment for Plaintiffs on their Equal Protection claim, the Opinion also creates a new exception to the well-established rule that appellate courts review findings of fact under the substantial evidence standard. In the Opinion, the Court of Appeal claims the right to reexamine

and reweigh the trial evidence *de novo* because much (although not all) of the direct evidence on the issue of discriminatory intent was in documentary or video form. On that basis, the Opinion ignores the expert historian testimony presented at trial and the trial court's assessment of the evidence based in part on the expert's live testimony – in effect, second-guessing the trial court's exercise of its function as the finder of fact.

The Opinion claims to be following *Scott v. Harris* (2007) 550 U.S. 372, but the Opinion dramatically expands *Scott's* holding by asserting that any finding based in significant part on "historical artifacts like videotapes" is reviewable *de novo*. (Op. p. 38). This purported exception swallows the rule, and would, if followed, mark a sea-change in the roles of California's trial and appellate courts. Documents make up a substantial part of the evidence presented in most civil trials, and the use of video evidence and video depositions has been steadily increasing; recently, trial courts have frequently taken witness testimony via teleconferencing in lieu of live witnesses in the courtroom. Under the Opinion's reasoning, appellate courts would have free rein to independently review trial court findings based on documents, videos, and even video-recorded witness testimony de novo. Yet as any trial judge or juror can attest, these "historical artifacts" are rarely conclusive, are always the subject of competing interpretations by the parties and their experts, and are best analyzed by the factfinder in the context provided by all of the other evidence as presented at trial.

For this reason, in discrimination cases the governing legal standards require courts to engage in "a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available" (Vill. of Arlington Heights v. Metro. Hous. Dev. Corp. (1977) 429 U.S. 252, 266), considering all the evidence "collectively" rather than "unwind[ing] the various strands of plaintiffs' evidence" and examining each of them in isolation (Horsford v. Bd. of Trs. of Cal. State Univ. (2005) 132 Cal. App. 4th 359, 377). The Court of Appeal failed to apply these legal standards—and failed to consider, or in some cases, correctly describe, some of the most important evidence relied on by the trial court.

Instead, the Opinion focuses on a subset of the evidence, which it searched vainly for direct revelations of discriminatory intent. And, rather than evaluating the evidence in the nuanced way specified by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Arlington Heights*, the Opinion announces (though it inconsistently applies) a "litmus test" based on the absence of public opposition to the proposed charter by minority leaders at the time the atlarge election system was adopted, which the Opinion finds to be dispositive of discriminatory intent "[a]s a matter of law." (Op. p. 42.)

In drastically expanding the scope of appellate review, the Opinion's holding that an appellate court may independently review factual findings based on video-recorded statements is in direct conflict with the First District Court of Appeal's holding in *Hoberman-Kelly v. Valverde* (2013)

213 Cal.App.4th 626, and thus requires clarification from this Court to secure uniformity of decision from the intermediate appellate courts.

For these reasons, this Court should grant review on Plaintiffs' Equal Protection Claim to protect the right and responsibility of the factfinder to conduct a sensitive analysis of all the relevant evidence and make its ultimate finding of whether a decision was infected with discriminatory intent, subject to the substantial evidence standard of review on appeal.

III. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- A. REVIEW OF THE OPINION'S HOLDING ON THE CALIFORNIA VOTING RIGHTS ACT IS WARRANTED TO GIVE EFFECT TO THE ACT'S LANGUAGE AND FULFILL ITS ORIGINAL PURPOSE, AND TO DISPEL UNCERTAINTY INVOLVING INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION OF THE ACT'S CORE PROVISIONS.
 - 1. The California Voting Rights Act Was Designed to Provide a Remedy Even Where Majority-Minority Districts Are Not Feasible.

Like the FVRA, the CVRA provides a remedy when a local government's use of an at-large election system negates a politically cohesive racial minority's voting strength, allowing a bare majority (or even a plurality) of non-minority voters to exercise complete control of the governing body. Unlike the FVRA, however, the CVRA was specifically designed to encompass jurisdictions like Santa Monica, where Latino voters have distinct electoral preferences from voters of the racial majority, but the demographics of the City do not permit a majority-Latino district to be

created.

Courts have "long recognized" that "at-large voting schemes may 'operate to minimize or cancel out the voting strength of racial [minorities in] the voting population." (*Thornburg v. Gingles* (1986) 478 U.S. 30, 47 ("*Gingles*") (citations to four other U.S. Supreme Court decisions omitted).) In jurisdictions with at-large elections "where minority and majority voters consistently prefer different candidates, the majority, by virtue of its numerical superiority, will regularly defeat the choices of minority voters." (*Id.* at 48.)

The standard for vote dilution claims under the FVRA, set out in *Gingles*, "provides the context for the California Legislature's determination to adopt [the CVRA]." (*Jauregui*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at 806.) Under the federal framework, voting rights plaintiffs must satisfy three preconditions: first, a showing that the racial minority "is sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in a singlemember district"; second, the existence of a politically cohesive racial minority; and third, the majority votes as a bloc to enable it to usually defeat the minority's preferred candidate. (*Gingles*, *supra*, 478 U.S. at 50-51.) The second and third preconditions together constitute racially polarized voting. (*Id.* at 56.) If these preconditions are met, then courts consider the evidence of racially polarized voting along with other qualitative factors, such as the continuing effects of discrimination or the

use of racial appeals in political campaigns, in a "totality of the circumstances" test. (*Id.* at 44-46, 48-49, 80.)

The California Legislature deliberately took a different path in enacting the CVRA; it sought to provide "a broader basis for relief from vote dilution than available under the federal Voting Rights Act." (*Jauregui*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at 806.) The Legislature sought to eliminate the first of the three "preconditions," as explained in the Senate Bill Analysis:

The Supreme Court in <u>Gingles</u> established three conditions that a plaintiff must meet in order to prove that at-large districts diluted the voting strength of minority communities. This bill requires that only two of those conditions be met, and *does not require that a minority community be sufficiently concentrated geographically to create a district in which the minority community could elect its own candidate.* As such, this bill would presumably make it easier to successfully challenge at-large districts.

(Senate Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 976 (2001–2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 11, 2002, p. 4, emphasis added.)

The Legislature fashioned a bill tailored to the racial and ethnic diversity that characterizes California. (See Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 976 (2001–2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 9, 2002, p. 3 ["In California, we face a unique situation where we are all minorities. We need statutes to ensure that our electoral system is fair and open."].) The Legislature resolved that the violation of voting rights in

local governments should be determined on the basis of racially polarized voting and, optionally, on other qualitative factors, but should *not* turn on whether it is possible to draw a compact majority-minority district. As the legislative history further explains:

This bill would allow a showing of dilution or abridgement of minority voting rights by showing [racially polarized voting] without an additional showing of geographical compactness . . . [G]eographical compactness would not appear to be an important factor in assessing whether the voting rights of a minority group have been diluted or abridged by an at-large election system. Thus, this bill puts the voting rights horse (the discrimination issue) back where it sensibly belongs in front of the cart (what type of remedy is appropriate once racially polarized voting has been shown).

(Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 976 (2001–2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 9, 2002, p. 3, *quoted in Sanchez, supra*, 145 Cal.App.4th at 669.) The Court of Appeal in *Sanchez* recognized the clarity of this legislative choice. "[T]he Legislature wanted to eliminate the *Gingles* requirement that, to establish *liability* for dilution under section 2 of the FVRA, plaintiffs must show that a compact majority-minority district is possible." (*Ibid.*, emphasis in original).

The resulting statutory language is set out in Section 14028 of the CVRA. Section 14028(c) provides: "[t]he fact that members of a protected class are not geographically compact or concentrated may not preclude a finding of racially polarized voting, or a violation of Section 14027 and this

section, but may be a factor in determining an appropriate remedy."

Section 14028(a) provides, in relevant part, that "[a] violation of 14027 is established if it is shown that racially polarized voting occurs in elections for members of the governing body of the political subdivision." Section 14028(e) incorporates the qualitative "Senate factors" from *Gingles* as "probative, but not necessary factors to establish a violation of Section 14027 and this section."

These provisions of Section 14028 implement two key legislative choices at the heart of the CVRA's expansion of voting rights for Californians. The CVRA protects a minority's ability to "elect candidates of its choice" when that minority is not sufficiently compact or numerous to elect its preferred candidates wholly on its own. It also protects the minority's ability to "influence the outcome of an election" by acting as a significant voting bloc, even if it is not numerous enough within a remedial district to consistently elect its own preferred candidates. (See § 14027.) The Legislature thus established the State's position in a long running judicial debate, adopting the principle that "the power to influence the political process is not limited to winning elections." (Gingles, supra, 478 U.S. at 99, O'Connor, J., concurring in judgment, quoting *Davis v*. Bandemer (1985) 478 U.S. 109, 132; see also Georgia v. Ashcroft (2003) 539 U.S. 461, 482 (Georgia) [describing and favorably discussing "influence districts," "where minority voters may not be able to elect a

candidate of choice but can play a substantial, if not decisive, role in the electoral process"].)⁶

As set out below, the Opinion sows confusion about the CVRA's basic provisions by refusing to recognize the CVRA's protection of minority voters' electoral influence, and instead reinstates a majority-minority district requirement found in federal law, but expressly rejected by the Legislature when it enacted the CVRA.

2. The Court of Appeal's Opinion, Ignoring the Trial Court's Findings on Effective Remedies in the Circumstances of Santa Monica, Reached a Holding Directly Contrary to the Text and Purpose of the CVRA.

Following a six-week trial, the Superior Court found that

Defendant's at-large election system violates the CVRA. This finding was

⁶ "Influence districts," the concept to which §14027 refers, is familiar to

group constitutes 28% of the voting age population" certainly qualifies, and directing lower courts to identify influence districts through a "searching evaluation of the degree of influence exercisable by the minority, consistent

"comprises at least 25% of the voting-age population"].)

this Court and the Legislature. (See *Wilson v. Eu* (1992) (Appendix) 1 Cal.4th 707, 771 & n.43, 773 [identifying as "influence districts" two legislative districts where the protected class made up 35.9 percent and 46 percent of the electorate, respectively].) The concept is similarly understood by the federal courts. (See, e.g., *Georgia*, supra, 539 U.S. at 471 [defining "influence districts" as those with 25% to 50% Black voting populations]; *Vecinos De Barrio Uno v. City of Holyoke* (1st Cir. 1995) 72 F.3d 973, 990-91 [declining to "prescribe any numerical floor above which a minority is automatically deemed large enough to convert a district into an influence district," while recognizing that a district in which "a minority

with the political realities, past and present"]; *Rural W. Tenn. African-Am. Affairs Council, Inc. v. McWherter* (W.D. Tenn. 1995) 877 F. Supp. 1096, 1100-1107 [identifying "influence districts" as those where minority

based on: 1) the pattern of racially polarized voting leading to a nearly unbroken string of losses for the Latino candidates whom Latino voters consistently preferred, which was further supported by 2) the presence of a number of the qualitative factors listed in § 14028(e) as being "probative," including evidence that racial appeals had been used against Latino candidates and that the City Council was unresponsive to the needs of the Latino community, for example, by repeatedly siting environmental hazards in the Latino-concentrated Pico neighborhood. (24AA10700-10776.)⁷ These findings were more than enough to establish liability according to the plain language of §§ 14028(a) and (e).

Defendant argued that the trial court must also make a separate finding of "vote dilution," requiring evidence "that some alternative method of election would enhance Latino voting power." (24AA10706, quoting 22AA9861.) The trial court made that precise finding - that Latino voting power would be strengthened *either* by a remedial district encompassing the Latino-concentrated Pico neighborhood, with an electorate that is 30 percent Latino (compared to 13.6 percent citywide), *or* by non-district alternatives such as cumulative voting, limited voting and ranked choice voting. (24AA10706-10707, 24AA10733-10735.) The trial court found

_

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