S263972

No. S263972

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### CITY OF SANTA MONICA,

Appellant-Defendant,

v.

#### PICO NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION; MARIA LOYA,

Respondents-Plaintiffs.

### CITY OF SANTA MONICA'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B295935 Los Angeles County Superior Court No. BC616804 The Hon. Yvette M. Palazuelos, Judge Presiding

Gov't Code, § 6103

CITY OF SANTA MONICA GEORGE CARDONA (135439) Interim City Attorney George.Cardona@smgov.net 1685 Main Street, Room 310 Santa Monica, California 90401 \*KAHN A. SCOLNICK (228686) Telephone: (310) 458-8336

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

Court of Appeal's conclusion that the voters of the State were not motivated by a discriminatory purpose"].)

Notably, Feeney and Crawford expressly followed Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp. (1977) 429 U.S. 252, the decision plaintiffs baselessly accuse the Court of Appeal of ignoring. (Pet. at p. 41.) In other words, by deciding this case in precisely the same way as the courts in Feeney and Crawford, the Court of Appeal was following the very law plaintiffs contend controls this case. Plaintiffs are disappointed only because that law does not command a rubber stamp of a trial court's legal conclusions even when they are unsupported by the slightest evidence of intentional discrimination.

Tellingly, plaintiffs did not even address this issue during the oral argument before the Court of Appeal, even after receiving a tentative decision that "included the equal protection analysis presented [in the opinion], including our statement of the standard of review and our analysis of the 1946 news clippings and the events of 1992." (Opn. at p. 49.)

In short, the outcome of this case depends on the straightforward application of a longstanding principle of constitutional law. The outcome would be the same on *any* standard of review—which makes this case a particularly poor vehicle for raising a standard-of-review issue.

# B. Appellate Review of Videos and Historical Documents Is Appropriate.

The Court of Appeal did exactly what an appellate court is

supposed to do: review the evidence to determine whether it supports the judgment. In this case, that evidence—newspaper articles, the report of the Charter Review Commission, and a videotape of a 1992 City Council meeting—did no such thing. To the contrary, on this record, no reasonable factfinder could conclude that Santa Monica adopted and maintained its election system for discriminatory reasons. Plaintiffs' efforts to dodge this basic fact do not make a compelling case for review.

First, plaintiffs concoct a purported split in authority. They contend that the Court of Appeal's decision is at odds with *Hoberman-Kelly v. Valverde* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 626. (Pet. at pp. 16-17, 33, 35, 42.) That case, an appeal from a trial court's order setting aside the suspension of a driver's license, has been cited by only one published decision (another license-suspension case) in the seven years since it was decided, and not for the proposition for which plaintiffs now cite it. (*Munro v. Dept. of Motor Vehicles* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 41, 59.) In any event, *Hoberman* does not stand for the proposition that appellate courts must blindly defer to a trial court's interpretation of a video. In that case, the Court of Appeal watched the video and concluded that it *supported* the trial court's findings. (213 Cal.App.4th at pp. 628-630, 633 ["it [wa]s clear from the video" that the petitioner had not been properly advised of her rights].)

Not so here. The Court of Appeal held that the 1992 Council meeting video "quite clearly contradicts" plaintiffs' theory of the case, which was "so utterly discredited' ... as to dictate judgment for the City." (Opn. at pp. 46-47.) That makes

this case not like *Hoberman*, but like *Scott v. Harris* (2007) 550 U.S. 372, 380-381, in which the U.S. Supreme Court held that a video dictated judgment as a matter of law for one party. In both *Scott* and this case, the outcome did not turn on the standard of review, but on the answer to a *legal* question—whether video evidence satisfied an element of a claim on any standard.

Plaintiffs labor to distinguish *Scott* on the ground that the evidence there was *solely* a videotape. (Pet. at p. 34.) That is false: The Eleventh Circuit opinion that the Supreme Court reversed relied on, among other things, deposition testimony and expert reports. (*Harris v. Coweta Cty.* (11th Cir. 2005) 433 F.3d 807, 810, 814 & fn. 8, 817.) But even if it were true, that would make *Scott more* like this case rather than less—because the only evidence on which the trial court relied in purporting to find discriminatory intent in 1992 was the video of the Council meeting. (24AA10723-10724.)

Plaintiffs' claim of a "voluminous trial record" and an "extensive body of evidence" (Pet. at p. 34) is an exercise in revisionist history. In the lower courts, they focused exclusively on the comments of Councilmember Zane during the Council meeting about how district voting would impede affordable-housing efforts—plaintiffs went so far as to describe that comment as a "smoking gun' admission." (E.g., RB at pp. 37-38, 88-89; 22AA9749.)<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeal examined the entire

Beyond Zane's comments during the Council meeting, plaintiffs' only other evidence about 1992 was the Charter Commis-

videotape and concluded "[i]t contains nothing showing a purpose of racial discrimination." (Opn. at p. 47.) To the contrary, "[i]n context and beyond question, Zane's comment was not a statement of discrimination against Latinos. The entire exchange, in context, was a substantive and cogent discussion of the pluses and minuses of district voting. There were no coded messages of hostility to Latinos or revealing Freudian slips." (*Ibid.*)

Second, plaintiffs speculate that the Court of Appeal's careful scrutiny of the 1992 City Council meeting videotape will have "far-reaching consequences" due to "court closures caused by the pandemic," which have resulted in more "witness testimony via teleconferencing." (Pet. at pp. 42-44.) Plaintiffs are overreaching. The Court of Appeal correctly observed that there was no relevant eyewitness testimony offered at trial on the issue of discrimination. (Opn. at p. 38.) The court also noted that the videotape of the 1992 Council meeting was not the equivalent of a witness examination under oath, so the trial court necessarily made no credibility determinations to which an appellate court ought to defer. (*Id.* at pp. 38-39.)

Accordingly, the Court of Appeal expressly distinguished its

sion Review Report that the Court of Appeal described in detail at pages 8–10 and 46 of its opinion. That report "was high-minded and comprehensive, but perplexing," because it offered "no consensus alternative" to the status quo, but rather recommended that the City "delay action and gather more information" (Opn. at p. 46)—which is precisely what the City Council did.

"independent review" of the "historical artifacts" here from the more deferential review that would be applicable to a lower court's findings based on fact witness testimony and credibility. (*Ibid.*) There is nothing novel or review-worthy about that distinction. (See, e.g., *Hunt v. Cromartie*, 532 U.S. 234, 243 [on direct review of three-judge court's decision addressing racebased redistricting: "extensive review" is warranted because "the key evidence consisted primarily of documents and expert testimony," and "[c]redibility evaluations played a minor role"]; *People v. Avila* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491, 529 ["deference is unwarranted when, as here, the trial court's ruling is based solely on the 'cold record'" of documentary evidence, as "the same information ... is available on appeal"].)

Finally, plaintiffs suggest the Court of Appeal ignored crucial evidence supporting a finding of intentional discrimination. (Pet. at pp. 15, 39-41.) This purported flaw in the opinion is "particularly clear," plaintiffs say, because the Court of Appeal relied on the fact that minority leaders uniformly supported the new Charter in 1946. (*Id.* at p. 41.)<sup>4</sup> In a footnote,

(24AA10719), even though that court inexplicably went on to

Twice in their petition, plaintiffs incorrectly state that the Court of Appeal relied only the "absence of public opposition to the proposed charter by minority leaders." (Pet. at p. 16; see also *id.* at p. 41.) But it was not simply the *absence* of public *opposition* by minorities; it was that "100 percent of the leaders of the minority community who expressed an opinion *supported* the City's action." (Opn. at p. 42, italics added; see also *id.* at pp. 5–6.) The trial court recognized this fact as well

plaintiffs assert that the opinion was "incorrect in stating that minority leaders did not oppose at-large elections in 1946." (*Ibid.*, citing RT3481:6-3483:11.) But the evidence that the Court of Appeal purportedly ignored perfectly illustrates just how baseless plaintiffs' claim of discrimination was.

Plaintiffs cite a portion of the trial transcript that contains their expert's interpretation of a 1946 newspaper article titled, "New Charter Aids Racial Minorities." (28AA12404; ARB Addendum at p. 4.) (The title alone suggests that the article is a poor basis for a discrimination claim.) The article reports on a meeting at which a Freeholder explained to NAACP members that the new Charter would increase minority electoral opportunities by "two and a half times over the present charter." (*Ibid.*) The article does not mention district-based elections, no minorities or minority groups in 1946 were advocating for a return to district-based elections in Santa Monica, and it is undisputed that several NAACP members publicly advocated for the Charter (and at least one of the NAACP members also was a member of the Board of Freeholders who drafted the Charter). Yet plaintiffs and their expert somehow interpreted the article to say "that the minorities themselves recognize that the at-large system was not going to make them better off," and "if they really wanted something to make them better off, they could have a district system." (RT3482:22-3483:1.) Plaintiffs' expert admitted

conclude that minority leaders in 1946 were willing accomplices in their own disenfranchisement.

that he literally made that up, even though the article says no such thing. (RT4446:18-28 ["My interpretation is based solely on that document."].)

The Court of Appeal reasonably cut through such "highly partisan advocacy in the guise of evidence," focusing on the documents themselves. (Opn. at pp. 39-40.) In doing so, the court concluded, correctly, that *no evidence* supported the trial court's finding of intentional discrimination.

# III. The Court of Appeal Had Ample Alternative Grounds to Enter Judgment in Favor of the City.

This Court should deny the petition not just because the issues presented do not meet the Court's standard for granting review, but also because plaintiffs' case is defective as a matter of law for independent reasons.

The most important defect is that the undisputed evidence demonstrates the absence of legally significant racially polarized voting in Santa Monica. The Court of Appeal did not address this element of plaintiffs' CVRA claim because it did not need to (Opn. at pp. 27, 37), but this element independently supports reversal of the trial court's judgment.

The CVRA requires plaintiffs to prove "racially polarized voting," as defined by "case law regarding enforcement of the federal Voting Rights Act of 1965." (Elec. Code, §§ 14026, subd. (e), 14028, subd. (a).) Under that federal case law, racially polarized voting means that minorities vote cohesively for the same candidates, but those candidates "usually" lose as a result of a majority bloc voting for different candidates. (*Gingles*, *supra*,

478 U.S. at pp. 50-51, 56.)

Courts determine whether voting is racially polarized by examining the results of elections and experts' estimates of the voting behavior of different ethnic and racial groups. Here, that evidence is undisputed. The estimates of the parties' experts are congruent, and the election results are a matter of public record. (See AOB at pp. 39-41.)

Central to the racial-polarization analysis is the identification of the candidates who are preferred by minority voters in a given election. In this case, the trial court erroneously proceeded on the basis that Latino voters in Santa Monica can prefer *only* candidates who have Latino surnames. (24AA10682-10688; see also Opn. at p. 19 ["The trial court rejected the City's argument the candidate's race was irrelevant under the California Voting Rights Act. The court ruled it would consider only Spanish-surnamed candidates...."].)

Federal case law uniformly condemns the trial court's unconstitutional stereotyping of Latino voters. At least 10 circuits have "reject[ed] the position that the 'minority's preferred candidate' must be a member of the racial minority." (Ruiz v. City of Santa Maria (9th Cir. 1988) 160 F.3d 543, 551 (per curiam) [collecting cases].) As one court put it, the trial court's presumption that voters necessarily prefer candidates of their own racial or ethnic groups "would itself constitute invidious discrimination of the kind that the Voting Rights Act was enacted to eradicate." (Lewis v. Alamance Cty. (4th Cir. 1996) 99 F.3d 600, 607.) In the words of another court, "No legal rule should

presuppose the inevitability of electoral apartheid—least of all a rule interpreting a statute designed to implement the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the Constitution." (NAACP v. City of Niagara Falls (2d Cir. 1995) 65 F.3d 1002, 1016.)

In focusing solely on Latino-surnamed candidates, the trial court disregarded the vast majority of candidates in Santa Monica's elections over the past quarter century—even when those candidates received virtually unanimous support from the City's Latino voters and won. This artificially narrow focus on candidates with Spanish surnames reflected plaintiffs' reverseengineered and result-oriented presentation of the data. Other manipulations of those data include: (1) ignoring or discounting the three victories of a Latino candidate, Tony Vazquez, but relying on his sole loss; and (2) ignoring the three victories of a Latina candidate, Gleam Davis, because of an unscientific telephone survey purportedly showing that City voters did not sufficiently "recognize" her as Latina; and (3) focusing only on Latino-surnamed candidates who received substantial support from Latino voters, but ignoring the numerous Latino-surnamed candidates who received hardly any such support. (See ARB at pp. 23-37.)

These errors, among others, independently required reversal. When the undisputed facts are analyzed under the federal standards for racially polarized voting that the CVRA adopts, they confirm that Latino-preferred candidates usually win in Santa Monica. In the City Council elections analyzed by the parties' experts, 16 of the 22 Latino-preferred candidates

(73%) won—and of the few who lost, only three were even arguably defeated by white bloc voting. (AOB at pp. 36-48; ARB at pp. 23-39.) The same holds true if the analysis is limited, as plaintiffs argued, to only those eight Council elections in which a Latino-surnamed candidate ran—12 of the 18 Latino-preferred candidates (67%) won, and of the few who lost, only three were even arguably defeated by white bloc voting. (ARB at pp. 23-39.) Three out of 22 (or even 18) is a far cry from demonstrating that white bloc voting "usually" results in the defeat of minority-preferred candidates. (*Ibid.*)

In sum, plaintiffs' failure to prove that the City's election system has diluted Latino voting strength was only one of many fatal defects in the trial court's judgment. The Court of Appeal chose to resolve plaintiffs' CVRA claim on the narrow ground of vote dilution alone, but the result—reversal—would have been the same had the court confined its focus to the racial-polarization question instead. Latino voters are already electing candidates of their choice. There is no cause to abandon the City's well-functioning electoral system in favor of a districting plan that would limit rather than expand Latino voting power.

# **CONCLUSION**

The Court should deny the petition for review.